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AN OXFCRD COUNTY HISTORICAL PROJECT

In 1941 the Oxford County Library Associavion undertook an interesting and
constructive project which uhdoubtedly will prove t0 be a real contribution fo
the history of the couhty, and even the provincs, Under the auspices of the
associétion, persons clossi associeted with vac r commurivies compiled informa-
tion on them, Ths reprssensative to the mgsociuuvion from cach “ommunity was re-
éponsible for presenting the materiel which was gathered coften by more than one

person, In a few instancezs the 7orX had :lready veen done for a church .nniver- $

sary or :nool magazine, In this issue of 71z Wastern Ontario Historicel Nao
wWe! present rour ths erivicles compiled and i: is hoped that further articles
may voilable for publication in future numbsers,

Jgxford ounvy Library Association is to be congratulated on sseing b
jle; vities in the proiect and on their carrying it out. Human memcr 8 shor
Sceres chenge, industries coms and g9, iamilies bacome prominent and disappec
and ot the reccrd goes too, The Oxfcrd County Library Associction domn

:thing constructive and tangitle to preserve the record of tne pust
The example set shows what is possibiz when the lcad i: :stared, Other croavy

library associations, historical societies, and women's Instituves cou'? do the
same, If enough work of this kird were w derteken *he totai would be surpris
large and future generations would bsneiitv from the labors of (hose whe can un
cover the story while it is still available,

» This issu> oI the Western Ontario liistorical Notes is dcvoted to the arti-
cles ~zaced by the Oxford County Library Association with a view to drawing

atto.tion to the work, putting the findings in a permanent form, and encouraging

other groups,
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HISTORY OF EMBRO
Mrs., R,J, Sutherland

The history of any community is tc a large extent a history of its people,
So I could not do vetter than bagiz this history of Embro with a quotation from
* Mrs, F.,D, Bemans "Not as the conqueror comes, they, the “rue hearted came; not
with the roll of stirring drums, and the trumpet that sings of fava; not as the
flying come, in silence and in fear; they shook the depths of ths dese t's gloom
with their hymns of lofty cheer," Thus she referred to the pioneers,

Among the earliest settlers of Zorra, of which Embro is the chier viilage,
was a colony from the New England States of United Empire Loyalist stock wiio made
their way intd Canada after the American Revolution, They settled only the Tourth
concession which runs north and south through the village, In religion they were
Methodists and Baptists-and hed established church services, Sunday and day schools
under the leadership of the Rev, Robert Corson and the Rev, Darius Cross, This
was $ix-years before the'coming of any Presbyferian minister and ten years before
the arrival of the Rev, Donald McKenzie, the first pastor of a Scotch congregation,

Embro is said to be:the Gaelic form of Edinburgh., The first lot seld in Embro
was the north half of Lot i2 on the 4th concession on January 13, 1832 at $2,00 per
acre. This is part of Embro now, The first buildings were two distilleries owmed
by McDenald and Crittenden., The Township of West Zorra was first surveycd in 1820
aad Fmbro became a separate municipality in 1858,

Sutherland's Directory has this to séy of ¥mbro, "Embro is pleasantly situ-
ated on a branch of the river Thames., The site of the village could not be more
desirable, having unsurpassedznatural hydraulic power for mill and manufacturing

purposes and being on a rising eminence and surrounded with a fertile and beautiful

"The earliest settlements of the township of the Zorras" was an article
written by W,A. Ross which appeared in the Western Ontario Historical Notes of
September 1945, In it will be found the story of the first settlers of t.o Embro
district, Mr. Ross is the author of "The History of Zorra and Embro" (FEr.oro,
1909), .
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section of country." At first the villaze stores were situated no;th of the pre-
sont village near the North Embro Mills, However, a flax mill owned by John Honey-
man was begun on the site of which now stands the ruins of an evaporator, north- .
west of the Toﬁn Hall, The Laycock catmeal mills, later owned by D,R., Ross were
built to the east of the village where the river crosses Commissioner Street and
by whose ruins in the river a swimming pool was made in recent years, in about 1936,
This was destroycd by spring floods after only two years! use,

So business life moved further south, Another flour and grist mill was built
south of the.village where the river crOsseslthe 4th line, called Scotia Mills,

This mill was owned by Mr, J.,M. Ross, father of D,R. and Columbus Ross, He later
bought the Laycock Mills and carried on an extensive business, Also in the east

end of the villagé was a carding and cloth factory owned by John McDoneld, The
following businesses flourished at that time: Watchmaker and jeweler, boots and
shoes, 8 blacksmiths, waggon and carriege makers, tinsmith, carpenters, potash manu-
facturer, 4 general stores, 2 cabinet mekers, undertaker, 3 doctors and a puﬁp manu-
facturef. In 1875, Embro had two newspapers, the "Planet" conducted by Mr, Dawson
and the "Review" by Mr. Hay. Later in 1880, the "Embro Courier" under the manage-
ment of Mr., Stewart then later Mr, Alger and Mr, McKinnon, grew up. It was dis-
continued in August, 1934,

The Wesleyan Methodists were the first religious body to enter Embro, meeting
in the old Temperance Hall on the corner of Commissioner and Argyle Streets, Mr,
Nasmyth who emigrated from.Scotland in 1832, settled in Embro and formed a Methodist
class and held meetings at his own house, He later assisted Captain W, McKay in

.drilling the Zorra volunteers during the Madkenzie rebellion,

The 01d Log Church situated on the 7th line, east of Embro, built in 1832,
less than three years after the arrival of the first shipload of "settlers from
Sutherlandshire, chtland, ministered to the Scotch Presbyterians under the Rev,

Donald McKenzie, and at that time the religious centre extending almost twenty-
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five square miles, "The.frame'church.kﬁown'as the.Auld Kirk was eredted in 1836

on the south side of Memorial Park. In commmion season, when large crowds
gatheréd, the peOpIGUWent to Dent's woods on the Slope of the hill on D,A, McKay's
farm, In 1863, the present Knox United Church wés built;'the site being donated

by Donald Mateson, The Rev, Donald McKenzie was the minister for fhirty-seven
years, at first residing'on Glenzss Farm where Mr, Peter Smith until recently
resided, later moving into the Manse bought in Embro,

The Baptists worshipped in a church built in 1862, just weét of Knox United
Church and were ministered tojby the Rev, Mr, Beardsall, This building was used
later as a town hall until the present one was built in 1893, then it was torn |
down and additional horse sheds built., Now these are gone and a lovely:tennis:
court has been made there,

A Methodist church was tuilt iﬁ 1854 and served the community until 1875,
when it was sold, It can still be seen standing-as a barn at the Albion Hotel,

The Methodists built another church in Embro in 1874 and sold it in 1925, when it
'ﬁas made over into a fine modern continuation ‘school and the congregation joined
the Knox United congregation before church union,

Ebenezer Congregation Church was formed after a visit-in 1869-1870 of
Ivangelists Russell and Carrol to Knax Church, when differences of opinion became
pronounced and many withdrew from the.church, worshipping for over four years in
the Auld Kirk., But in 1877AEbenezer Congregational Church wés*built'directly oppo-
site on the south side of St. Andrew's Street,  This church went into union in’
1925 as did Knox Church. ' The éontinuing Presbyterians started worshipping in the
town hall and did so for about two years until the beautiful residence of D,R, Ross
was bought and converted into'aICOmmodious manse'and church.,

Embro has iong béen the centre of iho West Zorra Agficultural Fair, At Lfirst,
in 1853, the fair was held on the vacaﬁt lots on Elgin'étreet between Commissioner

and Tohn Streets. The officers of the first agfiChltufal'SOCiety were President



: Le
Edward Huggins, Secretary John Fraser, Treasurer D,A, McPherson, In 1885 the
agricultural grounds gémprising several acres_donafed by Dongld Matheson were
.openedi Later_the Crystal Palace, used as a rink in wihter, was donated by
George Matheson, .Sarnia, and shipped ﬂere and rebuilt., This rink has since
been enlarged, and a large grandstand has been built, On thesg.grounds, or
Matheson Park as it has been named, the famous Caledonian games are, held each
year as they have been sincg 1937, 'They were not héld in 1942 owing to the war,

The first Highland society of Imbro was organized in March 1856 for the
purpose of preserving the language,’martial spirit, dress, music, literature,
antiquities and games of the ancient Calcdohiané. Then, as now, great crowds
pathered to see the games, the danciag and to hear the music, In those days,
John Tait, tinsmith of Embro was one of the best Highland dancers, George
Foybcs, Angus Kerr, William McLeod, Donald Bain McKay were some of. the greatest
athletes, On July 1lst, 1937, it was estimated that 4,000 people gathered in
Embro at Matheson Park and witnessed a program of 120 talented pipers and dancers
and five pipe bands massed as one, athletic events of all kinds, and tug-of-wér.
This final contest revived memories of the famous tug-of-war contest. in 1893 at
Chicago World's Fair, when the men f'rom Zorra won the championship of America
from teems representing Canada, Unitod States, Great Britain, Belgium, France,
and’ Germany. This team was composeg of fiﬁe members and two officers, James
Sﬁtherland, M.P,, President; E,L, Sutherland, Captain; Robert McIntosh, anchor-
man; William Munro, Ira Hummason, Robert McLeod and_Aléx Clark, They received
a cup valued at $200 and a cairn is_built to their memory at the entrance to the
North Embro'cemetery. A

The first school on the site of the present public school was of logs and
was the scene of Zorra's polling booth in 1844, In 1858 the village of Embro
became a separate municipality and the first Council meeting was. held on November
8th,. The members were, Reeve--John Dent, Council--Robert Mann, John Short, John

McDonald, Donald Matheson; John Fraser--Clerk, D.R. McPherson--Treasurer,
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In 1860, a company of volunteers was organized in West Zorra and Embro under
the name of Embro and West Zorra Highland Rifle Company., It numbered fifty-five
privateé. In 1863, this company entered the 22nd Battalion Oxford Rifles No, 2
-COmpany:With Captain Loveys and LieutenantiMcIntosh as officers.; In 1866, when the
Fenians were about to cross into Canada, thesé voiuhtéers WGrélcalled out under
Captain Duncan, They were stationed at Sandwich.fof frOntief sefvice unfii June,
when they returned home. It was at. this.time thatAtﬁe fémoué reﬁark was made:
“"They may tak Montreal and they may tak Toronto, they may'fék qudstéck but they'll
na' tak Zorra," e

The post office was at one time across the street from the Royal Bank build-
ing. Later when Mr. Donald Matheson built the present bank building, one-half
housed the post office  and the other half was used by Mr, Matheson's son, a lawyer.
Mr, Matheson was Post Master in 1875 and his daughter, Miss Mary Matheson, was
later,

At this time, as Embro had no train connections, Mr, W.3, Vanattar drove to
‘and from Zorra Station, on the C,P,R, mainline, with mail and passengers, In
1905, a company known as the St. Marys and Western Ontario Railway Company was in-
‘corporated for the purpose of building and operating a road from Ingersoll to'St.
Marys, running through Zorra Junction, ‘Embro, Bennington, Lakeside and St. Marys.
The officers of the Company wefe President James Chalmers, Vice-President D.R,
Ross, Secretary and ‘Solicitor J.W. Graham, Treasurer H,L. Rice, Board of Directors
E.L, Subtherland, T;o: Robso6n, David Bonis, F.E. Butcher, Archie Baird, The tem-
porary board entered into an agreement with the C,PrR., relative to the construc-
tion and operation of the road betweéq Embro and St, Marys, A bonus was received
from different municipalities to be served by.the. railroad, Embro's share was
$5,000, The road was completed in 1909, thé year of Embro 0ld Boys' Reunion,

Mr, E,J. Cody became Post Master when:the post.office was moved to his.own
store Where Clarence Campbell and the-Bell Telephone Office are now, Aboutvl920,

at Mr, Codny'death, J.R. Mooney was appointed Post Master, He built the fine: w
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brick“building,-being residence and post office combined, About 1924, the Toronto
Citnyairygbuilt a modern piant near the C,P,R, station and for a-numbef'of years
a great cuantity - of milk was shipped from the surrOuﬁding district, Thére were
two trains a day, north and south, which have now been reduced to one train a day,
The City Dairy iclosed .in 1939,

: The Embro Public Library first started as a Mechanics Instipgte in 1882 in a

small brick building near where Mrs, J.G. McIntosh's store is. Later the library

' Was moved to a building on the site of the present post office, In one side of

the building, Mr, Rutherford mended shoes, and Captain Gordon kept the library on
the other side, Later the library was moved across the street to where the print-
ing office now is and Mr, Cody looked after it, Many used to gather there to play
checkers, The first supporters were D,R. Ross, G,A, Munro, John Ross (Ensign),
Major Wm, Loveys, Geo, Gordon, Hugh Ross (teacher), E,7J, Cody, Dr, Jameson, and
Miss Mary Matheson, In 1895, it became a public library and two years later when
R,A., Duncan was Reeve of Embro, the town hall was built and the library found a
permanent resting place, Mr, Duncan, son of Dr, Duncan, and aﬁ.e}ficient druggist,
was located at that time across the street from the town hall énd looked after the
library. Ross Campbell and Miss Rutherford were at one time librériéﬁs. Mré. Grace

McNeil was librarian for twenty-five years, till her death in 1940; The town hall

will seat 400 in the auditorium on the second floor,

lmbro has-a beautiful memorial park on the grounds whére the Aﬁld Kirk s?ood
which is képt in fine condition by the Women's Institute; Tﬂig érganization came
into being in January, 1908 when the Farmers' Institute Wﬁich ﬂad been flourishing
for a number of years called a specia% meetigg to which the iadies of the community

were invited to hear a speaker, Dr, Facchus of Aylmer, It was her object to form

" a Women's Institute, which she did with following officers--President, Mrs, E,J.

Cody; Vice-President,-Mrs, J.E, McKay;,Secrgtary—Treasurer, Mrs, G,A, Sutherland:
Directors, Mrs, Columbus Ross, Mrs. Jas., Brand, and Mrs, W,G, Dawes, In 1919, a

fitting war memorial’for West Zorra and Embro was erected on the grounds of the
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Memorial Park, a silent reminder of loyalty, heroism and sacrifice,

br. Adams came to Embro when a véry young man after the American civil war,

He was‘the doctor for a radius of thirty or forty miles. At the time of the
sméll-pox plagﬁe, he buried the dead in addition to all his other duties, He
képf a drug store in his office and’ the building which was his home and office
stood between the bakéQShop and the bank.' '”’

On the north;east corner below Fmbro stood a warehouse -owned by Mr. Archibald
where grain was bought and scld,and operated by Doug, McMurphy. This building has
since been removed,

In 1889, a private bank was established in Iubro, owned and managed by Colonel
‘James Munro also Lieutenant Colonel of the 22nd Battélion of the Oxford Rifles, In
1908, he managed Farmers' Bank which later had to close its doofs. In 1906 a branch
" of the Traders' Bank was established, This was later taken over by the Royal Bank.
In 1901, Mr. Munro installed an electric light plant in Boxall's mill run by water
power, This sefved the village for lights until hydro took its'place in 1914,

In 1860-61 the following businesses were operating in Embro; E,J, Cody, Gener-
al Store; John Honeyman, flax mill; Samuel Henderson, veterinary; Reuben Tait,
pumpmaker; George Matheson, meat marﬁét;'N. Vanslyke, Tenpdrahce House Proprietor,
Population--551, '

" In 1909, G,H, Boxall had the North Embro roller mills, William Hamiltonm,
Scotia flour'mills; Thos., Porter, druggist; W,J, Dillane, dry goods, groceries and
millinery; E,7. Cody; géneral merchant, clerk and treasurer of Embro,'1879-i922;

J. Fairbairm, groceries; W,J, Geddes, hardware; Hector Sutherlénd, furniture and
undertaker; W.H. Beaver, merchant tailor; T, Holihan, dry goods and groceries;

‘C.H. Munro, dry goods.and groceries; Mr, Slater, boots and shoes; A,M. Riddell,

meat market; Wm, Karn, barber; D,i, Sutherland and J,W, Gordon, harness-shop;

- Grehem McKay, Andrew MeDonald and Geo, Creighton, blacksmiths; McLellan and Son,
jewelleré; T. Filmors, béker; two hotels--Albion, Wm, Cherry, Commercial--Mr,
McInnes, There were three'doctbrs; Dr, Adams, Dr, Green and Dr. Sutherland who about v

this time SCIdibutbto Dr, Montgomery'who served the community faithfully till his

death in 1937,
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'HISTORY OF THAMESF ORD
Mr, John L, Lawrence

Thamesford is situated on the middle branch of the Thames river half way be-
tween Woodstock and London on Highway No, 2, formerly known as the Governor's
Rbad."That portion of the road running thréugh the villege is Dundas Street, On
the north side of this is East Nissouri Township and thec south side North Oxford
Township, The village was first called St, Andrews and two streets still bear
tﬁis name on the old mapé. It was re-named Thamesford because of the ford across
the river Thames at this point,

In thé early years fhere was a school on Delatre Street to which the children
of East Nissouri went, while those across the street living in the township of
North Oxford attended a school a mile south of the village on the first cohcession.
About the year 1867 a new two-roomed school was built on Delatre Street. This was
a two-storey building of red brick thirty feet by forty feet, The room on the
ground floor was used by fhe pupils of the third and fourth classes while the upper
room was ﬁséd:for‘the younger pupils, About the year 1875 the section No, 1 of
North Oxford was joined with No, 5 East_Nissouri andAall the children in the village
at%ended the same school from that time; This school was used until 1901 when the
present Public School was built, Later the continuation schoql was erected in 1926,
Some of the early teachers were Mr, Sutherland, Miss McMillan, J.S, McKay, John
McWilliam, T, Kennedy,'Bessie MéKay{.Bella Rosé, Tena McMurray, T. Eckardt, .

The first mill in Thamesford was built by John Finkle, the father of Judge
Finkle of Woodstock, John Johns first manﬁfactured flou; and he was followed by
Mr, Jos, Cawthorpe, The'lafe Geo, P; Hogglfpllowed the Cawthorpes and Mr, Hogg's
sons are the present flour manufécturers;

In the early'days a ﬁléning mill situated on Washington street was operated
by Hazzard Hull ana James McMurray, An asﬁery was an impo;tant industry in the
village at one time aﬁa Mr, Garner was the proprietor,

The Sugden wﬁolen mills at one time employed both men and women, This mill
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was s;tuatgd on the West side of the river on Delatre Street and was later used
as a flax mill. where sometimes twenty men would be employed, During the summer

many boys and girls and men were employed in spreading the flax on the clover

fields, then turning and gathering it again, It was taken . back to the mill where

it was made into tow.‘ This mill was owned and operated by a man familiarly called
Tlax Brown,and later by Jas. Livingstone of Baden,

The carriage factory of Hull .and Kennedy was once a thriving industry where
about sixteen men found employment, Later the Gowper Brothers conducted a carri~
age factory, a blgcksmith shop and a lumber mill, The lumber business is now in
the haﬁds of Wallace Brothers, and G,G, Hogg has a very flourishing garage and .
service station where the carriage factory once was,

Before the building of %the C,P.R, railway through Thamesford the mail was
brought daily by stage from Ingersoll, At one time the mail was delivered three
times a week from the Thames’ord Post Office to Dornoch (now Rayside), McBrines,
Lakgs?de gnd Kintore, a mail route of about thirty-five miles,

The coming of the railway to the village changed conditions considerably gnd
the establishment of a branch of the'Trgders Bank was a great convenience to the
citizens,

The library was first a branch of the Sons.of Temperance Lodge which had a
large membership of young men‘and woﬁen. Thiéllodge Waéféétablished in 1851 and
the library férmed the nucleus of the Mechéniés’ institute.which late; was re-
organized aé‘a Public Library,  Dr, McWilliam dohated a room in his drug store to
be used as the first public lLibrary, The books were later housed in various
stores and rooms until our présent library was built in 1934,

The medicai profession was represented in the early days by Dr, Ogden and Dr,
Dawes, About the year 1880 Dr, J. McWilliam located in Thamesford,. He had just
returneq from taking a post-graduaté course in Edinbbrough and soon had a large
practice, He built the drug store and the residence now occupied by Dr, Weir,

For more than a quarter of a century Dr., McWilliam laboured in the community,
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driving long distances with gig or buggy br cutter in all kinds of weather and err
all kinds of roads. It was not only as a physician that he took his place in the
community but he was interested also in many projects, the manufacture of peat, the
growing of nut trees, and the introduction of the telephone system to the village.
At one time he ran as Literal member for the Dominion house,

When he felt that he could no longer stand the labour of a country practice
he moved to London where many of his former friends and patients went to consult
“him when in need of medical attention,

Drs., McGougan and Babb took up the work after Dr, McWilliam left and their
services were much appreciated, as are those of'the present‘village physician Dr,
Weir.

aln making a summary of village life of Thamesford it would be an omission to
overlook the péper once edited in ths village, It was always associated ﬁith the
old Tmbro "Courier" and one of the first editors was James Stewart of Embro, Miss
Brock, one of our present library board members, was editor for two years. W,J.

- Taylor, at that time editor of the "Sontinél Review", later purchased bo?h papers,
An o0ld issue of December 1lst, 1910, is Vol, VII, No, 37, An interesfing side light
on library work is found in an article which is in pért:-

"For Oxford County the work has been made light by the action of Council of

1910 in making a grant to the different county Library Boards, at a recent

meeting of the Library Board it was decided to make a small purchase of books,

The amount invested will necessarily be small but care will be taken in selec~

tion and subscribers are invited to hand in suggested purchases,”

The first services of the Church of England were held in the grist mill built
by John Firkle about the year 1845, Canon Bettridge of Woodstock was the preacher
at these occasional services, The people sometimes travelled to Spearman's Corner
(now Banner) where the Reverend Revel and other rectors of St, James Church,
Ingersoll, preached, Many of the older members of the church were baptized theré. ¢

The grounds for a church and a cemetery were given by Miss Vansittart, and a

daughter of the late John Brock was the first to be buried there under the T00tS

of an upturned tree,
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In 1859 a congregation was formed and Reverend William Bookman was appointed
missionary in charge of Delaware, Edwardsburg (now Dorchester), Thamesford and
. Lakeside,. The first services were held in the Methodist-Church and later in barns
loaned py Joel MgCarty and Thomas Lougheed, some too-took.place'in the office of
..Dr, Dawes,  Eleazer McCarty, Thomas Ovens and John Tomlinson, It was finally de-
cided to build a-stone churgh and this building is the one now in use, John
Eorbes, Chas, Cobbeand, James Keyes were the-builders and the material was
donated by John -Halpin and R, Rutledge.  Reverend Samuel Belcher was the second
incumbent,

In the -time of the Reverend Rolf Seaborn the stone tower and bell were added
in commemoration of Queen Victoria's Jubilee., The congregation has carried on

- through the years and in June of 1941 celebrated its eightieth anniversary,

HISTORY OF THE UNITED CHURCH AT THAMESFORD
In the year 1830 a large number of immigrants from the northern part of-
Scotland settled in the Townships of West Zorra and East Nissouri, Although .
the struggle.for:homes and livelihood. was strenuous they planned and worked to
build: schools and churches,:
These Scottish people around Thamesford, at that time called St, Andrews,
at first attended services at the log church at Imbro but the wish of these
people to have regular .services in their own locality never abated apd in 1845
steps were taken to form a;éongregation.- Land for a site.was obtained from John
Finkle, miller .and mefchant, for the sum of 5 shillings, - About this time, Isaac
Buchanan,a wholesale merchant of Hamilton,: offered $100.t0 .each of the first five
churches that should be built in this western distriet andi some of the more ener-
getic men set to work to obtain subscriptions in order to take advantage of Mr,
Buchanan's offer, s } : e T
~In 1847 the corner stone of the first Presbyterian church in St, Andrews

was laid by the Reverend W,C, Furns who was afterwards a missionary to China,
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This church was a plain frame building thirty—six feet by forty-séven feet without
ornaméntation of any kind, The seéts were of pine ‘slabs with pegé inserted in the
“round sides, and were without sides or backs, This first church could perhaps lay
little claim to beauty--a plain frame church crowning a hill, the forest stretch-
ing behind it and the quiet Thames rippling on its way below the hillj béautiful‘
in situation, and to those toilworn men and women, clothed. with the beauty of
holiness, and majestic with the presence of Him whose glory filled its :walls,
" Here the congregation which at that time numbered sixty families and sixty-one
members worshipped until 1875 when the second St, Andrew'é church was built., At
this time the congregation was mostly Highland and spoke the Gaelic but later
they were joined by many English-speeking folk,

It was a Sabbath day in early June in the year 1852 whén a small boy of six
attended church for the first time, He was seated before his father on horseback
(in later years the whole family attended church riding in a lumber wagon) and
they had travelled six miles over rcugh road to the church in the village of St,
Andrews, As they drew near to their destination they féll in with many others
going their way, some on horseback and many on foot, these last carrying their
shoes, They stopped at Gordon's Creck to wash their feet and put on their shoes
before coming to the church,

The crowd of people was so'large that there was not room for all in the church
80 those who could uﬁderstand English held their service séated on the hillside,
shaded from the noonday sun by the thick canopy of the forest overhead and fanned
by the cooling breeze ﬁhich was laden with the freshness of spring. There, with
nature rejoicing around them they listened to the story of Nature's God as told
to them by one of His servants,

The little boy was interested in this new environment and although the minis-
ter's sermon was long, lasting nearly two hours, he listened -and was able to tell
his mother the text which was, "And I if I be lifted up, will draw all men to me,"

He remembered that experience all his life,
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It is June agalﬁ 1892, and what changes since that June day forty years be-~
fore! The white brlck church with tower and basement has been up for seventeen
years, A little boy again came to the church,this timé?the family carriage over
roads that are in much better condition than those of 1852, The new St. Andrew's
church was built on the sits of the old church but the forest that surrounded the
: old'chufch hés béen cleared away and in the cemetery that surrounds the church
many of the older generation are sleeping.

It was nearing the time when many‘of the old customs were to change but as
yet thé service was carried on in much the same manner as it was. in the old church,
It was Communion Sunday and two elders stood at the doof po welcome the people and
to give the tokens to those who did not receive them at the_preparatqry service on
Saturday, The collection plate stqod on the table in the vestibule of the church,
 Cn ofdinary days the families sit together in the‘family pews but on Communion
Sunday the centre éeats were res2rved for the communicants and. a white cotton

cloth covered the badk of each seat, ‘

Mr. Cameron, fhe pastor, preached in Gaelic in the basement and Mr; Currie of

Belmont in English.in the body of the church, There were no hymns at this ser&ice,
only Psalms and paraphrases are sung, and they were led by the precentor, The
people sat for the service of song but st;od for the prayer service, The bfead at
" the Communién>éefvice was cut in slices and a slice handed to the person sitting
at the eﬁd of Ehe pew, .He passed it to his’neighbour after breaking off a small
portion, The wine was»passed in the same way, eachuone taking a siptfrom the cup
as it is passed along the pav,

The small children could not hélp but be impressed by the devotion and rever-
ence of the'peoplé.wﬁo worshipped here, The north doors of the church were open,
lafting in thé fresh sﬁmmér treeze laden with the perfume of'the flowers and the
song of the bobolihkélas théy flew over the clover fields near py. A lovely‘view
of swaylng trces and waving grain lay w1thout Occasionally a swallow flew in at

one of the open windows and dartgd dlstractedly among the beams above, At times,
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the Gaelic singing was to be heard from below, perhaps the blaintive notes of.
Coleshill, or MaftyrdOm, or Dundee, Before the serving of the tabies'the'Gaelic
congregation joined those in fhe'auditorium. The last Gaelic service was held
in the :-Church at the time of the Jubilee in 1905,

In 1925, the Presbyterian and Methodist churches of Canada were united. St.
Andrew's church in Thamesford voted that their church enter.the uﬁion and so the
church became St. Andrew's United, Some of those families who opposed the union
severed their connection with the cdngregation at this time and the diminished
congregation'carried on for two years before they united with the'Methodist church
in the village in 1927, When they entered this union the people sacrificed much
that tradition and custom had made dear to them but they did it gladly, feeling
that the work of God's Kingdom would be advanced if His followers worked together,

Records do not give any account of the early days of Methodism in Thamesford,
Those who first established this church have long since passed to their reward,
Through the changing years their names and works have been forgotten but.their
influence remains, The house of‘God founded by the followers of-éﬁe of the great-
est religious teachers of all time, rémaips‘as a monument to the piéneer Metho=-
dists of the old village of St. Andrews,

An ardent church historian of London is in the posséésion of church records
that prove‘ that as early as 1857 a Methodist church had beeh‘established in St.
Andrews, In fact, there apnears t§ have beeﬁ three branches of Methodist deno-
minations and, in 1884, all branches of the Methodist church united fo fprm the
great Methodist church of Canada,

About the year 1868, the old frame Methodist church was bricked”over and
some of the'officials and more prominent workers of the church at this time were
Messrs. Shenoath, Cogswell, Bartlett, Storey, Sherlock, Judge, Walkerk Kester,
Horseman and Dickey.,

In 1915, "during the péstorate'df Rev, A,G, Harris, the church was entirely

renovated, hydro installed and a basement put in, The interior was redecorated
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and new pews, pulpit and orgap iﬁstalled.

The united coggregatiOn carried on for more than ten years holding services
alternately in the two churchcs, In 1958 they de01ded to build a new church
wnlch would be centrally located

The Methodist church wes sold and tﬁe‘st. Andrew's church was wrecked, The
material was lafgely uséd to-build thc new church.l This church is called West-.
m1n>ter United, it is fcrty feet by seventy feet and ic built of red brick with
the tcwer to one side, There is a stained glass memorial window in the chancel
and the windows~at.the side are the Wicdows from the old church,

The peoplé of this new church feel that they have a’gregt heritage to which
they look back with joy cnd thanksgiving as they cherish the memory of the church
of their fathers, Yet it is in fulfilment of their aims,'their struggle and
‘their examples that the people today go forward--alnew chufch in a new day re-

'membering with lcving gratitude those who

"--have gone out unforgotten
Leaving to us as their part
Monuments of a labour
Burned on their country's heart,"

Union Library Association, 1848

Sir ) G . :

For the information of the farming community around Ingersoll, may I solicit,

through the medium of your Journal, to give publicity -to the following proceeding

of a meeting held in this village on Tuesday, the 8th instant, for the organiza—
tion of a Union Library Association, ;

David Canfleld Esq., being called to the chalr in accordance w1th the reso-
lution of a prev1ous meeting, the Secretary pro tem reported the success of the
Committee on obtaining subscribers to the Association, and the patronage likely to
be extended by the public at large to such an institution--which appeared.so favor-
able that a constitution was immediately adopted and the following gentlemen chosen
to conduct the affairs of the Association for the first year: David Canfield,
‘president; John MacDonald, D.C,, vice-president; John I, McKenzie, secretary-
treasurer, Directors: Alix MacDonald, James Murdock, Dr, McCarthy, ' George Chambers,
David Irving, Isaac Piper, W.A, Rumsey, Dalius Doty, John Patterson, John Barnett.

The ostensible object of this association being for the general diffusion of
.sound literary information through the medium of a well-situated library, it is
to be hoped that all within reach will avail themselves of the opportunity thus
gfforded them by coming forward immediately and subscribing so as to give the In-

stitution a solid foundation, ;
Ingersoll, February 10, 1848,
-------- ~ Oxford Star, February 18, 1848,
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THE EARLY HISTORY OF KINTCRE
Ny. A.F. Thornton

In the year 1826, Mr. Benjamin Swayzie came from the Niagara district and pur-
chased 2,000 acres in the township of Rast Nissouri,

To his eldest daughter, Lydia, who married Henry Campbell, he gave 100 acrés,
and it was on this farm, now occupied by Charles Phillips, that some of the finest
buildings in this vicinity were erected, The first school house ‘was erected on
this farm‘just west of the creek in 1835, and was built of logs,

Anvimportant meeting was held in this building abdut the year 1837, to deter-
mine what action the residents of the township would take in ragard to the rebel-
lion then in.prog?ess.',The early meetings of the township council were also held
in this school house, The old Methodist cemetery is located on this same property.

A son of Henry and Lydia Campbell was buried here in 1836, and the pioneer,
Mr, Benjamin Swayzie, in? 1850, 1In 1861, Mr, and Mrs, Campbell deeded the cemetery
to the Methodist Episcopal Church which was erected just east.of the cemetery,
about the year 1872;'after the‘farm had become the property of Mr, John Phillips,

The Wesleyan Methodist Church was built about the year 1860, and was situ-
atgd a short distance to the east of the four cofnefs,'on the Groves Farm, now
occupied by George Sims, In 1871, the Presbyterians:built a church onélmile east
of Kintore near the corner of;the 1lth doﬁcession line,

Wm, Murray was the first post master and the_poéfioffice‘wasAlocated in"a
hotel about a half a mile noffh‘bf thé cornerfén the farm now occupied by Don
Calder, ‘ .

Mr. Murréy came from Kintore,.Scotlaﬁdz thus thevpost.office‘officials chose
this name for the‘new'post.office. .i have 5een.ﬁnabie to.find jdst when this took

place but Mr, Murray died and was buried in the Methodist cemetery in 1867, %

*The name Kintore is first shown in a list of post offices dated October 1,
1862, given in the Canadian Almanac for 1863,--~Ed, .
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About this time, Mr, Wn, Easson, é pensioner of the Crimean War, put up a
Suilding on the corner of the Philiips farm and was appointed post master while
his wife kept a sm;ll store in the same building.

In 1870, Mr., Robert Eldon built a store at the northeast corner of Kintore,
on the Pearson farm, and on the death of Mr, Easson became post master,

The first cheese factory was built by Mr, George Furse, in 1874, or 1875, on
the north side of the road., The present cheese factory is situated on the same
property.

Ed Flynn was the first blacksmith and he sold out to Andrew Murray., His shop
_was west of the corner on the north side of the road and Mr, George Weston started
a blacksmith-shop a short distance south of the corner on the east side of the
road,

Mr, Wm, Straitch, who came from West Nissouri, built a store near the corner
on the same side of the road,

In later years, at a date which cannot be established, there was a shoemaker,
Mr, Dunster; a flour and chopping mill conducted by Mr., Cade; and a.saw mill built

by John Grant,

"Frederick Beyer, Professor of Music, begs to inform the Ladies and Gentle-
men of Woodstock and the surrounding neighbourhood that he will give lessons on
the Clarinet, Guitar with Singing, Violin, Vlute, or any Instrument used in Mili=-
tary Bands. : :

"Mr, Beyer, having closed an engagement with the Woodstock Amateur Band, for
the purpose of instructing them in the science of music, begs to say that he will
also devote a great portion of his ‘time in giving lessons privately on any of the
above instruments to individuals who may require them, Terms moderate,"

. Oxford Star,
R e R ! : . © December 22, 1848,

- —— -
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THOMAS, HORVOR - OXFORD PICONEER
Mr., H,L, ‘Kipp

Thomas Hornor, eldest son of Isaac and Mary Hornor, was born near Bordertown,
New Jersey, on March 17, 1767, He was thé great grandson of John and Mary Hornor
who came from Zngland in November 1683, The Hornors appear to have been the first
who became GOnviand of the doctrires taught by George Fox and to have been fellow-
sufferers with him in prison,

Isaac Hornor, grandfather of Thomas Hornor was a man of considerable means,
He was a man of strong character and firm in his convictions, The unlawfulness
of slavery was not.questioned in those days. However, Isaac Hornor became con-
vinced that it was wrong and accordingly, about the year 1744, he set all his
slaves free, He was said to be the first person in the State of New Jersey who
set his slaves free,

John Hornor, as son of Isaac, actively aided in the founding of the college
of New Jersey, erected in Elizabethtown in 1745 and later moved to Princeton,

New Jersey.

During the American Revolutiorn, John Graves Simcoe went with the British
troops into New England, He was given assistance at that time by a man named
Watson, an uncle of Thomas Hornor, Later, when Simcoe became the first Lieutenant-
Governor of Upper Canada, he invited Thomas Hornor and his uncle Watson to come
to Canada and settle in Blenheim Townéhip, promising themvthe whole township 1F
they would build a sawmill andtavgrist mill there,

In the year 1793, Thomas Hornor and his cousin Thomas Watsaon came .to the
County of Oxford, They were probably thehfirst or among ‘the fipgﬁ white persons
to tread the soil of this county, Simcoe had the first three concessions of
Blenheim surveyed and Hornor and Watson selected the site for their mill, which
was just west of the present village of Princeton and on what is now known as
Hornor's creek, At the time of their first visit in 1793 the nearest white

settler to the east was where the city of Brantford now stands, and the nearest



one west was at Chatham,

- Hornor and Watson.thgn returned to their homes in New Jersey and in 1794

5 proceeded to Albany, New York, to purchase materials and engage mechanics to

v -

erect: the mill, There is no record that Watson returned to Canadg, at this time,
Thomas Hornor and the men he engaged packed théir goods in two small, roughly
made boats, which they launched on the river Hudson near Albany, pfoceeded up
the Hudson to the'MohaWk river, then up the Mohawk for about 100 miles., They
carried their goods and boats across to the Norvel Creek, then down Norvel Creek
into Lake Oneida, across the Lake to the Oswego river, thence into Lake Ontario,
They then travelled along the southern coast to Burlington Bay where tﬂey landed
all safe, The boats_were made fast and left for future usé. The goods were
drawn by oxen on roughly made sledges, through the trackless bush to their des-
tination in Blenﬁeim Township, They erected the mill'and had it in running order
in the latter part of 1795, However, before it had been run the dam.gave way,
and because of the scarcity of help, was not rebuilt until two years later, Hornor
also built a grist mill which was burned down in i809 and never rebuilt,

When these two millsﬁwere erected, Hornor.was in a position to claim the
Township of Blenheim, he having at a very great loss faithfully performed hié
part 6f the contract, but Simcoe'sv§uccessor would.not acknowledge his claim,

In March, 1801, Thomas Hornor was married to Olive Baker at Burford by Col.
James Ingersoll, J.P,

In June, 1806, he was appointed Deputy-Lieutenant of the County of Oxford,
EreviOus to this, I‘belieﬁe in 1798, he had.been appbinted captainvof the Norfolk
Militia, Howavér; duriné;the uarléf 18i2; he shouldéped"hié musket and took his
place in the ranks as a pri%ate and so remained until duly'discharged.

Mr, Hornor was the first member for the county of Oxfgrd when it became en-

i : : :
titled to a member in 1826, and continued to be a member with the ekception of
two'years, till the time of his death, by cholera, August 4, 1834, In the old

journals of the House of Assembly, we find the name of Mr, Hornor often as chair-
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man in the house, or of committ?es. He was evidently a WO?king member,

In connection with his parliamentary conduct, there is one little incident
.We might mention. Just before the passagelof thev'Alien Act', which caused much
‘intense excitement throughout the province, IHornor called a meéting of his con-
stituents, and addressed them as follbﬁs: ﬁdentlemen, I wish to know how you
desire me to vote on this bill; andvI will vote just as I am instrﬁcted by you;
but mind, if you say I shall sﬁpport the bill,.I Wiil do s0, because there is
not time for you to elact another member before the vote is taken should I re;
gign, but I never will come fo the COunty of Oxford again, >I.shall give'my
vote as you direct, leavevthe Hoﬁse, and.the‘country, send for my family; and
never return again". He was directed to oppoée the bill, ‘

The creek on which Mr. Hornor built"thé first sawmill iﬁ the county bears
his name, In the year 1935; a petifion was presented to the Provincial Parlia-
ment by the Chamber of Commerce of Princeton to set aside 2,400 acres of land
in the towmship of Blénheim,.to be known as the "Hormor Crown Game Preserve",

A part of this land is draihed by tlornor Qreek. Surely this is:a ﬁery fitfing
reminder for generations fo come of the namé of that piﬁneer, ThOmas.Hornor,
the first white man to reside in the County of Okfora.-

"Ingersoll Agricultural Society. L o

The second fxhibition of this Society was held at Ingersoll on Thursday, .
the 12th instant, A lengthy list of prizes follows under the headings: cattle,
sheep, swine, grain, dairy produce, domestic manufactures (maple sugar, 5 yards
flannel, fulled cloth), vegetables, Officérs elected for 1848-49:

Thomas Brown, President
W, B, Mabie, )
John Mathews, )-
Daniel Philan, Secretary and Treasurer.”

Vice-presidents

Oxford.Star,
October 20, 1848,
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Q{FORD COUNTY .ITEMS
The Oxford Star and Woodstock Advertiser was a short-lived newspaper pub=-

lished in Woodstock during the year 1848, The proprietors were Alex Hay and

. James Egan, The editor was John Allan, It was a "Reform Journal" and is of

particular interest in this year when Francis (later Sir Francis) Hincks was

elected by the County of Oxford as a representative to the Legislative Assembly

of Upper Canada, Ip the second number, on February 4, is a letter from Hincks
to Jered Vining, District Councillor of Nissouri and Warden of Brock District,
Wm, Carroll, Esq,, District Councillor of Norwich, Angus Campbell, Esq., of East
Zorra, and other Reform Electors of the County of Oxford, in which he thanks
them for his electiOn, excuses himself for his unavoidable absence during the
late'elections and outlines his views and policies with regard to political
affairs of the time,

The necessity of holding a new election, however, brought Hincks, as In-
spector General, and his lady to Woodstock on April 20, "Mr, Hincks will im-
mediately visit his friends in the various_localities of the County", announced
the Star. "Tomorrow, he intends being in Norwich, on Monday, he will meet the
electors of Zorra at Embro, We understand that a procession will form at'Gordon
Charles, Beachville, at 11 o'clock to attend the nomination on Tuesday." Hincks'
speeches, on this occasion, are dutifully recorded in full in the Star,

As well as following vigorously the affairs of the Canadian Government the
Star gave much space to local Government in every respect, Descriptions of the
meetings of the district gouncil appear at length, By-laws are printed in full,
Completé reports from the‘Rgv. W,H. Landon, county superintendent of education
for the District of Brock are reprinted, Correspondence and editorial comment
abound on subjects of local interest.

The Star was a strong temperance journal but they report the return of

licenses issuediby John G, Vansittart, inspector of license for Brock, during



-24 =~
the year ending January 31, 1848, Fifty taverns and ten shops were located in
the district with thréé'Shops where ‘¢nly beer and ale were sold, Five of these
taverns were locéted in Woodstock, ore in Ingersoll,

The Building of roads is noted, -Cn “une 26, for instance, a public meeting
is reported to "étudy" the propriety of ptitioning the legislative Assembly to
pass.an Act incorporating a company for constructing a plank or macadamized road,

from Woodstock to the town of Stratford.” . On other dates, lists appear of new
rosds in the district, and roads under repair,

Court procecedings during the Court o." Quarter Sessions‘and,Assizés arc des-
cribed with the schedule of the retu:m of convictions,

New éhurch buildings are annourced and church meetings, usuélly "Tea Meet-
ings";"Soéieties—-Agricultﬁral,'literary, Gaelic and OddfellowélﬁLodges, an-

e counted on not only to.record faith-

nounce their meetings and the Star could t
fully the business of the meeting but to add whatever personal refiectiOns had
come to vhe mind or-:the attention of the éditor during the procedure, |

In short, in the pages of the ' OxTord Star one lives again in early Wood-
stock and itsineighbourhood. Feelings ran high and a hearty boisterousness is
reflected in the bold black uneven type which does not creep into our effici-
ientl& produced journals of today, The only file known to exist is in the pos-
session Of the Toronto Public ‘Library,

No Market in 1848

"Those business ‘18 it in Woodstock to 1ook after the institute, a weekly
market for all sorts of produce? Grain, “lour, hay, straw, butter, eggs, cheese,
atc," Ly LAY :

oxford Star, February 25, 1848,

-

First Oddfellows Lodge

"On Monday last a Lbdge was opcned at Woodstock by the assistance of the
Brethren from London and Brantford, and denominated !'The Loyal Brock Lodge'.
After the inauguration, the Brethren and friends, numbering about 100, dined at
Frank's Royal Pavilion,"

Oxford Star, April 19, 1848,



